73650-7

NO. 73650-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SURAJ PINTO

Appellant,

v.

GREGORY VAUGHN AND "JANE DOE" VAUGHN; PAOLA LEONE AND "JANE DOE" LEONE; LEONE & VAUGHN, DDS, P.S., DBA LEONE & VAUGHN ORTHODONTICS; L. DOUGLAS TRIMBLE AND "JANE DOE" TRIMBLE,

Respondents.

On Appeal from King County Superior Court

Court No. 14-2-23326-4

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

Edward C. Chung WSBA#34292 Attorney for Appellants

CHUNG, MALHAS & MANTEL, PLLC 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 1088 Seattle, Washington 98101

Phone: (206) 264-8999 Facsimile: (206) 264-9098 STATE OF WASHINGTON

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- 1. The Trial Court's June 12, 2015 Order granting Defendant, L. Douglas Trimble's Motion for Summary Judgment amounted to reversible error wherein Appellant had provided competent medical expert testimony where in the light most favorable to the Appellant, genuine issues of material exist that warrant the need for a civil trial on Plaintiff's informed consent and professional negligence claim?
- 2. The Trial Court September 17, 2015 Order and October 12, 2015 Supplemental Order granting Leone & Vaughn, DDS, P.S. Motion for Summary Judgment amounted to reversible error wherein Plaintiff had provided competent medical expert testimony wherein in the light most favorable to the Appellant, genuine issues of material existed that warranted the need for a civil trial on Appellant's Informed Consent and professional negligence claim?

- 3. The Trial Court September 17, 2015 Order and October 12, 2015 Supplemental Order granting Gregory Vaughn and Paola Leone's Motion for Summary Judgment amounted to reversible error wherein Plaintiff had provided competent medical expert testimony wherein in the light most favorable to the Plaintiff genuine issues of material exist that warrant the need for a civil trial on Plaintiff's informed consent and professional negligence claim?
- 4. The Trial Court's June 12, 2015 Order granting Defendant, L. Douglas Trimble's Motion for Summary Judgment and October 12, 2015 Supplemental Order granting Leone & Vaughn, DDS, P.S., Gregory Vaughn and Paola Leone's Motion for Summary Judgment amounted to reversible error wherein the pleadings, declarations and interrogatory responses made by Plaintiff created genuine issues of material fact wherein a trial was warranted.
- 5. The Trial Court abused his discretion when it granted Plaintiff Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Experts following the initial September 17, 2015 Order granting Leone & Vaughn, DDS, P.S., Gregory Vaughn and Paola Leone's Motion for Summary Judgment.
- 6. The Trial Court committed error when it denied Plaintiff and Defendants' Leone & Vaughn, DDS, P.S., Gregory Vaughn and Paola Leone's Stipulated Motions for Continuances and to amend the trial court's case scheduling order?
- 7. Trial Court committed reversible error in signing two different Court Orders and entering an October 22, 2015 Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Factual and Procedural Background on L. Douglas Trimble Motion for Summary Judgment.

Appellant, Mr. Suraj Pinto, initiated on his own behalf a medical malpractice lawsuit on August 21, 2014 against Defendants' L. Douglas Trimble and Leone & Vaughn, DDS, P.S. (hereinafter referred to as "Leon & Vaughn"). See Appellant's Complaint in CP 1 – 11.

On October 8, 2014 the law firm of Forsberg & Umlauf, P.S. filed and served their Notice of Appearance of Counsel on behalf of L. Douglas Trimble and subsequently filed and served an Answer to Appellant's civil Complaint on October 16, 2014. See Forsberg & Umlauf, P.S. Notice of Appearance of Counsel in CP 17 - 19. It should be noted, for the purposes of this appeal and pending motion that Respondent did not raise any affirmative defense of Assumption of the Risk, although Respondent sought a release of liability on Appellant's informed consent claim via an alleged signed informed consent form. It should also be noted that that throughout the proceedings, Respondent never sought any motion for an amendment to the Complaint wherein a signed informed consent form defense may be raised. Contrary to this argument presented by Appellant, Summary Judgment was granted despite the fact that the defense was never alleged or pled on the record (See, CP 292 - 319). Up until October 2014, Appellant was formally representing himself pro se when on October 23, 2015 Appellant retained the law firm of Chung, Malhas & Mantel, PLLC and a Notice of Appearance was filed and served on his behalf to the respective Counsel of Records for the Respondent (See, CP 29 - 30).

As delineated in Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment filed in the trial court, discovery requests were propounded on Appellant's counsel on November 25, 2014. See, CP 52 - 65, Respondent Douglas D. Trimble's Motion for Summary Judgment, Page 3, Line 16. These discovery questions

received were voluminous, required redactions and *per* stipulation were served on Respondent's counsel on February 23, 2015. Shortly thereafter, Appellant counsel received an additional discovery request in April 2015, but this time from counsel for Leone & Vaughn, the orthodontist that provided care for Mr. Suraj Pinto. In short, discovery has been voluminous and Appellant's counsel had worked diligently and in good faith in responding to multiple Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents.

In terms of expert testimony, Appellant has a number of physicians he received treatment from, as well as, prior to retaining counsel he sought to retain medical professionals to testify. There are voluminous medical and dental records to review in this case as there are years of treatment Appellant received orthodontic work from Leone & Vaughn and a significant time span between the two surgeries he received from Respondent, not to mention significant post-operative consults. Moreover, in Appellant's counsel's efforts in seeking to retain experts and conferring with past doctors, there appear to be conflicts of interest in testifying against Respondent, as is common in Washington State medical malpractice cases because of the unwillingness of experts to testifying against colleagues that work within the same locality. See, EX B of Plaintiff's Response to Defendant L. Douglas Trimble's Motion for Summary Judgment in CP 292 - 319.

Despite the foregoing, and despite Appellant having put forth sworn declarations of Jay Grossman, DDS and James C. Rockwell, M.D. the trial court denied Appellant's request for a CR 56 (f) 60 day extension to supply supplemental affidavits in response to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment.

In terms of Respondent's credentials, Respondent received his DMD in Canada in 1976 from the University of Manitoba and then his MD degree in 1976 from the same. He completed his residency in Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery at the University of Washington in 1982 and became board certified by the American Board of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery (ABOMS), which is the certifying board for the specialty of oral and maxillofacial surgery in the United States; a national certification.

Appellant first received treatment from Respondent Trimble on September 3, 2009 from a dental referral from a dental group known as Respondents, Leon & Vaughn, also parties to the civil action. The referral made to Respondent Trimble was made in relation to orthodontic work performed on Appellant by Leon & Vaughn and was specifically for the extraction of four bicuspids teethe from Appellant's mouth which was alleged to be necessary due to an occlusion. An occlusion, in a dental context, means simply contact between teeth. From a surgical standpoint, an occlusion is the relationship between the maxillary (upper) and mandibular (lower) teeth when they approach each other. Based on the medical records received, the

extraction of the four bicuspids was performed to provide spatial work for continued orthodontic treatment Appellant had been receiving from Leon & Vaughn.

Subsequent to the first surgical procedure by Respondent Trimble, Appellant revisited Trimble in 2011 wherein he recommended continue orthognathic surgery of Appellant's jaw to correct his bite problems. As summarized in Respondent Trimble's Motion for Summary Judgment, Appellant's surgery occurred on August 24, 2011 at Overlake Hospital. *See*, CP 52 - 65. Shortly thereafter, Appellant noticed remarkable discomfort, and as contained in medical records, he was having significant issues breathing. In 2014, a sleep study was performed on Appellant that revealed that he had severe sleep apnea a serious sleep disorder in which breathing repeatedly stops and starts. To date, Appellant suffers from Sleep Apnea and his physical condition has been affected wherein he has higher pressure, weight gain and a life expectancy that may have been decreased due to the stress on his heart.

Filed in conjunction with Appellant's response to Respondent Trimble's Motion for Summary Judgment was a medical report by Jay Grossman, DDS a doctor that Appellant had retained following his surgery from Respondent, as well as a declaration obtained from James C. Rockwell, M.D. a Washington State licensed Otolaryngology (ear, nose and throat) with more than 30 years of experience working and studying patients with sleep apnea. *See t*he declaration of Jay Grossman, DDS in **CP 274 - 286** and the

declaration of James C. Rockwell, M.D. in **CP 287 - 289**. See **CP 341 - 347**, Respondent's Reply and Declaration of Defendants Counsel.

Since the date Appellant retained the services of legal counsel, his legal counsel diligently sought other doctors to provide testimony; however, such experts had declined to provide testimony on the basis of a conflict of interest with the parties named in the lawsuit. Nevertheless, based on the analysis and conjecture made by the current experts that were brought before the trial court, Appellant contends that genuine issues of material fact existed to overcome Respondent Trimble's Motion for Summary Judgment.

B. Factual & Procedural Background on Respondents Leon & Vaughn Motion to Strike Expert Testimony and Motion for Summary Judgment.

Leon & Vaughn are engaged in the practice of Orthodontics. On September 17, 2015 The King County Superior Court Judge, Sean O'Donnell held hearing on both Defendants', Leon & Vaughn's Motion for Summary Judgment and Defendants' Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Expert Witnesses¹ from testifying at trial. Defendants', Leon & Vaughn Motion for Summary Judgment sought to exclude any expert testimony because the experts identified to that date lacked credentials to give testimony on the standard of care, causation and damages. While Defendants address a number of experts identified in interrogatory

Defendants' Motion to Strike Witnesses was a non-dispositive motion; however, oral argument was considered at the hearing. Defendants counsel was arguably unsure when inquired by Judge O'Donnell

responses submitted of a dismissed party (Dr. Trimble), they tellingly make no reference to the disclosure of Dr. Panomitros as an expert witness in their initial motion which in fact did show that Plaintiff made the disclosure of this witness in compliance August 21, 2014 Case Scheduling Order on June 15, 2015.

Defendants' Reply, which raised new arguments about Dr. Panomitros not contained or addressed in their initial motion suggests that Dr. Panomitros report that was submitted as a Response to Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, suggests he was not qualified to comment on the standard of care because he had no experience in orthodontics as a specialty, his report was not detailed on the standard of care breached and he was not a Washington State licensed orthodontist. Although Appellant's counsel advised the Court and opposing counsel that Dr. Panomitros' Curriculum Vitae indicated he was part of an orthodontics society, the Court found that insufficient to overcome a motion for summary judgment. At the time of filing a Motion for Reconsideration with the trial court, Appellant's expert provided further clarity on his extensive experience in orthodontics, that orthodontics is a subspecialty of a DDS license and that the standard he has commented on is a national standard, not a state standard of care. That being said, Dr. Panomitros sits on a regional board that oversees admission to practice dentistry in the State of Washington, therefore making him qualified to comment on the standard of care. It should be noted, that Defendants had not provided any expert contradicting the findings of Dr. Panomitros.

In terms of exclusion of Dr. Panomitros, Appellant contended this was not willful as disclosure of this witness was made in June of 2015 in compliance with the case scheduling order. Defendants', Leone & Vaughn argued that they acknowledged disclosure; however, Appellant had a further obligation of identifying which experts it would be calling for trial out of the experts identified. Defendants did not file a motion to compel prior to filing a Motion to Strike, although they objected to this use of Dr. Panomitros as an expert. No CR 26 (i) conference was conducted until after the discovery cut-off and only weeks away from trial. The Court held and Defendants argued that Plaintiff had a further obligation of the June 2015 disclosure of Dr. Panomitros as an expert and that Appellant had an affirmative duty to identify which experts it would use at trial. Again, although acknowledging knowledge of all these experts, never set a deposition of any expert and only took the deposition of Appellant, no one else. Appellant further contends that the joined Defendants in two motions for continuance to amend case scheduling order and to allow for additional time for discovery. It should be noted, the Court denied Defendants' motion for continuance and although it instructed for any additional extensions be noted before the court, Defendants never did and instead claim prejudice for discovery violations.

Plaintiff contends Dr. Panomitros is qualified to testify as an expert on orthodontics, the standard of care is a national standard and summary judgment should not have been granted. Additionally, since the Court's granted Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment, the issue on exclusion of witnesses was moot and should not have been considered nor granted as all issues were resolved. That being said, Plaintiff contend that if there is a legal basis to grant Defendants Motion to Excluded Witnesses, there was no willful violation because Plaintiff's decision on *which witness* to call is part of Plaintiff's trial strategy and non-discoverable. Moreover, in compliance with the Case Scheduling Order, Plaintiff did in fact timely disclose Dr. Panomitros as a witness both in June 2015 and in Plaintiff's September 14, 2015 Exchange of Witnesses and Exhibits for Trial.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APPEAL IS *DE NOVO*. BASED ON THE PLEADINGS, MOTIONS, DECLARATIONS AND DISCOVERY CONTAINED ON THE RECORD, THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENTS, L. DOUGLAS TRIMBLE AND LEONE AND VAUGHN'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTS WARRANTING A TRIAL.

When reviewing a summary judgment, the Court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Hisle v. Todd Pac. Shipyards Corp.*, 151 Wn.2d 853, 860, 93 P.3d 108 (2004) (citing, Kruse v. Hemp, 121 Wn .2d 715, 722, 853

P.2d 1373 (1993)). The standard of review is *de novo*. *Hisle*, 151 Wn.2d at 860. Summary judgment is appropriate only if "the pleadings, depositions, and answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." CR 56(c).

When considering a motion for summary judgment on review, the Court reviews all facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Vallandigham v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400, 154 Wn.2d 16, 26, 109 P.3d 805 (2005) (citing, Atherton Condo. Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Dirs. v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 516, 799 P.2d 250 (1990)

B. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN GRANTING RESPONDENT, L. DOUGLAS TRIMBLE'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT.

On appeal, a summary judgment order is heard *de novo*, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Highline Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Port of Seattle*, 87 Wash.2d 6, 15, 548 P.2d 1085 (1976); *Mahoney v. Shinpoch*, 107 Wash.2d 679, 683, 732 P.2d 510 (1987). Like the trial court, this Court must construe all evidence and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, in this case the Appellant, Appellant. *Barber v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co.*, 81 Wash.2d 140, 142, 500 P.2d 88 (1972); *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wash.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). As Appellant

contended in the trial court and puts forth now, Respondent did not provide any competent evidence wherein there shows an absence of material facts wherein Appellant could not support his claims for medical negligence and informed consent. In fact the Respondent nearly entirely relied upon the declarations of Respondent's legal counsel and Appellant's sworn Interrogatory responses. *See*, **CP 1 – 11**. That being said, this Court must solely consider evidence and issues the parties called to the trial court's attention. RAP 9.12

1. The Trial Court Committed Reversible Error in Finding that Appellant's Response to Respondent, L. Douglas Trimble's Motion for Summary Judgment had an "Absence" of a Dispute of a Genuine Issue of Material Fact

Summary judgment is appropriate when viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). A genuine issue of material fact exists when reasonable minds could reach different conclusions. *Michael v. Mosquero-Lacy*, 165 Wn.2d 595, 601, 200 P.3d 69S (2009). Summary judgment is not proper if reasonable minds could draw different conclusions from undisputed facts or if all of the facts necessary to determine the issues are not present" *Schwindt v. Underwriters at Lloyd's of London*, 81 Wn. App. 293, 297-298, 914 P.2d 119 (citing, Wan v. Coldwell Banker/San Juan Props., Inc., 74 Wn. App. 157,161, 872 P.2d 69 (1994)), review denied, 130 Wn.2d 1003 (1996).

In briefing the standard of review for summary judgment in Respondent's motion, Defendant cites both Pelton v. Tri-State Memorial Hospital, 66 Wn. App. 350, 831 P.2d 1147(1992), and Guile v. Ballard Community Hospital, 70 Wn. App. 18, 851 P.2d 689 (1993). While both cases are on point in presenting two cases which upheld defendants' motions for summary judgment; they can be distinguished from the case at bar because in both those cases the Defendants had provided evidence (e.g., medical expert testimony) in support of their motion for summary as the first part of the analysis and then indicated that the Plaintiff had an absence of competent medical evidence to overcome Defendant's evidence. In this case, Respondent made a blanket generalization on the "absence" of competent evidence, even though treating physicians and experts were identified in Appellant's Interrogatory Responses attached to Respondent's motion. As stated in the footnote on Page 1 of Appellant's motion for Summary Judgment, Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment provides only the declaration of Defendant's counsel, Erin Barmby, which is not competent testimony that may be heard as she is unable to testify at trial. See, Meadows v. Grant's Auto Brokers, Inc., 71 Wn.2d 874, 431 P.2d 216 (1967) (The information from the Mayo Clinic, resulting from a telephone conversation with the Peltons' counsel as stated in his affidavit, is inadmissible.)

Moreover, while Respondent made reference to a signed informed consent form, no signed consent form was included with their motion. What

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