$\overline{\omega}$

3: 22

NO. 73650-7

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

SURAJ PINTO,

Appellant,

v.

GREGORY VAUGHN and "JANE DOE" VAUGHN; PAOLA LEONE AND "JANE DOE" LEONE; LEONE & VAUGHN, DDS, P.S., DBA LEONE & VAUGHN ORTHODONTICS; L. DOUGLAS TRIMBLE AND "JANE DOE" TRIMBLE,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS GREGORY VAUGHN, PAOLA LEONE, AND LEONE & VAUGHN, DDS, P.S.'S BRIEF

Lisa Wong Lackland, WSBA#27373 BETTS, PATTERSON & MINES, P.S. 701 Pike Street, Suite 1400 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 292-9988

Attorneys for Respondents Gregory Vaughn, Paola Leone, and Leone & Vaughn, DDS, P.S.

TABL	e of a	UTHORITIESiv
I.	INTRO	DDUCTION 1
11.	ISSUE A.	ES FOR REVIEW

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

arguments made in a motion for summary judgment. *See Sligar v. Odell*, 156 Wn. App. 720, 734, 233 P.3d 914 (2010). A motion for reconsideration "does not provide litigants with an opportunity for a second bite at the apple" and generally, courts will not permit parties to merely re-argue issues already addressed. *Anderson v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 83 Wn. App. 725, 923 P.2d 713 (1996).

In order for a motion to be granted under CR 59(a)(7), there must be no evidence or reasonable inference to support the Court's decision. *See Kohfeld v. United Pacific Ins. Co.*, 85 Wn. App 34, 41, 931 P.2d 911, 915 (1997); *Nord v. Shoreline Sav. Ass'n*, 116 Wn.2d 477, 486-487, 805 P.2d 800, 805 (1991). Here, Pinto failed to set forth specific reasons as required by CR 59(b) as to how the trial court's prior order was "contrary to law." Pinto's motion for reconsideration set forth no new law at all, let alone establish that the prior decision was "contrary to law."

With respect to motions brought under CR 56(a)(9), courts rarely grant reconsideration under CR 59(a)(9) because of the other grounds already provided for under CR 59(a). *See, e.g., McCoy v. Kent Nursery, Inc.*, 163 Wn. App. 744, 769, 260 P.3d 967 (2011); *Sligar v. Odell*, 156 Wn. App. 720, 734, 233 P.3d 914 (2010) (plaintiff did not show that substantial justice had not been done as would warrant reconsideration after summary judgment had been granted to defendants; in seeking

reconsideration plaintiff merely repeated the prior arguments, and failed to demonstrate that the trial court had erred in granting summary judgment for defendants.) Here, Pinto's arguments for reconsideration merely rehashed the same arguments the trial court already rejected.

Dr. Panomitros' New Declaration Is Still Deficient and Does Not Warrant Reversal of Dismissal

b) Dr. Panomitros' Second Report Was No Better Than His First

The only fact that could even be considered "new" on reconsideration is the new declaration from Dr. Nicholas Panomitros¹⁰ (CP 891-893). Tellingly, however, Pinto did not move for reconsideration under CR 59(a)(4), the prong that pertains to "[n]ewly discovered evidence." Pinto failed to cite to CR 59(a)(4) likely because it is obvious that the new declaration would not constitute grounds for reconsideration under CR 59(a)(4) because Pinto could have presented this same information in his original opposition to defendants' summary judgment motion. Pinto made no showing that the information in Dr. Panomitros' second declaration could not have been presented initially. To the contrary, this information could have and should have been presented in

¹⁰ While the declaration was "new" in support of reconsideration, the contents of the declaration simply re-stated arguments that Pinto had already made, arguments that were rejected by the trial court (compare CP 685-699 with CP 891-893).

Pinto's original opposition because CR 56 provides that affidavits made in opposition to a motion for summary judgment must "**affirmatively show** that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters therein." *Davies v. Holy Family Hosp.*, 144 Wn. App. 483, 493, 183 P.3d 283, 288 (2008), citing *Seybold v. Neu*, 105 Wn. App. 666, 10 P.3d 1068 (2001) (emphasis added).¹¹ Dr. Panomistros' "new" declaration was properly rejected by the trial court as sufficient to warrant reconsideration, just as the trial court in *Davies* rejected the new expert declaration submitted on reconsideration in that case.

Moreover, even though Dr. Panomitros' new declaration professed himself to now have practice experience in "orthodontics" generally and Pinto also represented that Dr. Panomitros had "training and knowledge of *orthopedics*" (note, not "orthodontics") (CP 888), Pinto and

¹¹ The *Davies* case sets forth the requirements of a CR 56 affidavit as follows, "[i]mportantly, CR 56(e) provides that affidavits made in support of, or in opposition to, a motion for summary judgment must be based on personal knowledge, set forth admissible evidentiary facts, and affirmatively show that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters therein. Expert testimony must be based on the facts of the case and not on speculation or conjecture. *Seybold*, 105 Wn. App. at 677, 19 P.3d 1068. Such testimony must also be based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty. *McLaughlin v. Cooke*, 112 Wn. 2d 829, 836, 774 P.2d 1171 (1989). 'Affidavits containing conclusory statements without adequate factual support are insufficient to defeat a motion for summary judgment.' *Guile [v. Ballard Com. Hosp.]*, 70 Wn. App. at 25, 851 P.2d 689," *Davies*, 144 Wn. App. at 493 (2008).

Dr. Panomitros still failed to affirmatively set forth that this expert has education, training or supervisory experience in dealing with the specific malocclusion and neuromuscular and skeletal abnormalities at issue in Pinto's specific case. The new declaration still failed to set forth that Dr. Panomitros has trained in or treated a similar condition. The case law is clear that expert support must be from a practitioner of the same specialty or who demonstrates familiarity with the particular care at issue. The new declaration still failed in this regard.

The trial court properly refused to grant reconsideration based on Dr. Panomitros' new declaration because it was not "newly discovered evidence," and the declaration still failed to affirmatively set forth the qualifications required to opine as to the specific care at issue here. Moreover, the second declaration failed to remedy the myriad additional deficiencies with Dr. Panomitros' prior declaration beyond his lack of qualifications. Except for two sentences, the entirety of Dr. Panomitros' new declaration was an attempt to shore up his qualifications. The new declaration does not remedy the multiple, other deficiencies that the Court found with his first declaration. The new declaration contains only two sentences that pertained to Drs. Vaughn and Leone, to wit: "The defendants in this matter also have training from schools that are not in the State of Washington. They breached the standard of care and were the proximate cause of Mr. Pinto's problems that he now has" (CP 892-893).

These two sentences were not sufficient to overcome summary judgment.

The new declaration was still deficient in, at least, the following ways:

- 1. The new declaration still failed to "articulate the standard of care for orthodontists" in this case, which the trial court previously remarked upon as a deficiency.
- 2. The new declaration still failed to state how exactly Drs. Vaughn and Leone supposedly breached the standard of care (which as previously noted, was never set forth by Pinto).
- 3. The new declaration still did not clearly identify whether Dr. Panomitros' criticisms were directed to standard of care or informed consent claims.
- 4. The new declaration still contained a sweeping and conclusory criticism of the collective defendants and still failed to delineate which defendant supposedly did what wrong. The expert's opinions were still the "mishmash" that the trial court previously noted as deficient.
- 5. The trial previously noted that the conclusory nature of the first declaration was "fatal." The new declaration did not even attempt to address the conclusory and unsupported allegations made in the first declaration. Specific factual discrepancies set forth in the first declaration remained and were not clarified. Confusing and non-sensical statements were not clarified.
- 6. Dr. Panomitros still failed to set forth that he was qualified to render causation opinions.
- 7. Pinto still failed to provide copies of the documents and evidence that Dr. Panomitros reviewed and purportedly relied upon. This information was specifically

requested in defendants' discovery requests and the trial court noted that Pinto had failed to provide such information.

Overall, even after being given a roadmap as to the evidence necessary, Pinto still failed to shore up his prima facie case.

c) The Trial Court Did Consider Pinto's Reply

In a non-sequittur, Pinto appears to suggest (but does not actually argue) that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Pinto's Motion for Reconsideration because it rendered its ruling "prior to [Pinto] submitting a reply" (AB 43). This notion should be rejected as a flat-out mischaracterization of fact. The Order Denying Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration (CP 917-918) plainly states "[t]he Court has reviewed plaintiff's reply to defendants' response to plaintiff's motion for reconsideration. The brief [plaintiff's reply brief] was filed on Oct. 12, 2015 at 2:40 p.m. the brief was due at 12:00 p.m. that same day." The trial court judge handwrote the above notation into the order, explaining that despite having been untimely filed, he had read Pinto's reply. The trial court did not abuse its discretion for failing to consider Pinto's reply (or for any other reason).

d) Pinto Has Waived Any Assignment of Error Regarding the Trial Court's Denial of Pinto's Motion to Reconsider the Order Striking Pinto's Experts

To the extent Pinto assigned error to the trial court's denial of reconsideration of its order striking Pinto's experts, Pinto has waived this assignment of error because Appellant's Brief does not contain any argument or citations to case law establishing this claimed assignment, as RAP 10.3(a)(6) requires. Accordingly, this assignment of error is waived. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn. 2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549, 553 (1992); Smith v. King, 106 Wn.2d 443, 451-52, 722 P.2d 796 (1986). The Court need not consider this assignment of error, given Pinto's failure to support his contention with developed argument and citations to supporting case law, as RAP 10.3(a)(6) requires. Id. Further, Pinto cannot remedy this waiver by asserting argument in Reply. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn. 2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549, 553 (1992), citing In re Marriage of Sacco, 114 Wn.2d 1, 5, 784 P.2d 1266 (1990) (assignment of error waived when no argument is presented in opening brief; an issue raised and argued for the first time in a reply brief is too late to warrant consideration).

Waiver aside, Pinto set forth no specific reasons (at the trial court level, or now) in fact or law as to why the trial court's decision on Defendants' Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Experts was "contrary to law" or how "substantial justice has not been done." Strangely, on reconsideration Pinto attempted to excuse his failures to comply with court rules and discovery requests by arguing that he hid the identity and opinions of his experts because such are "trial strategy and non-discoverable" (CP 889). Pinto's trial-by-ambush excuse is contrary to court rules, court orders and well-settled case law. In making his argument, Pinto essentially conceded that he failed to provide Drs. Vaughn and Leone requested discovery responses as to Pinto's experts and did so as a matter of *trial strategy*. This portion of the trial court's order denying reconsideration should be affirmed.

Overall, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Pinto's motion for reconsideration. Dr. Panomitros' "new" declaration did nothing to clarify his mangled and deficient prior "expert report," which the trial court found to be an insufficient "mishmash" of "largely conclusory" allegations (RP 9/17/15, p. 56).

45

- B. The Trial Court's Order Striking Pinto's Experts Should Be Affirmed
 - a) Pinto Has Waived His Assignment of Error as to the trial court's granting of Drs. Vaughn and Leone's Motion to Strike Pinto's Experts

Pinto's Notice of Appeal contains an assignment of error as to the trial court's granting of Drs. Vaughn and Leone's Motion to Strike Plaintiff's Experts (Notice of Appeal, Assignment of Error No. 5, CP 928; 942-48; misidentified by Pinto as "Plaintiff's Motion"). However, Appellant's Brief does not contain any argument or citations to case law establishing this claimed assignment, as RAP 10.3(a)(6) requires. Accordingly, this assignment of error is waived. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn. 2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549, 553 (1992); Smith v. King, 106 Wn.2d 443, 451–52, 722 P.2d 796 (1986). The Court need not consider this assignment of error, given Pinto's failure to support his contention with developed argument and citations to supporting case law, as RAP 10.3(a)(6) requires. Id. Further, Pinto cannot remedy this waiver by asserting argument in Reply. Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley, 118 Wn. 2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549, 553 (1992), citing In re Marriage of Sacco, 114 Wn.2d 1, 5, 784 P.2d 1266 (1990) (assignment of error waived when no argument is presented in opening brief; an issue raised and argued for the first time in a reply brief is too late to warrant

consideration). For these reasons, the Order Striking Plaintiff's Experts should be affirmed.

b) Even if Pinto has not waived this argument, the trial court's order dismissing Pinto's experts should be affirmed because there was no abuse of discretion.

Waiver aside, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting Drs. Vaughn and Leone's motion to strike plaintiff's experts. The decision should be affirmed.

In its Order Striking Plaintiff's Experts, the trial court entered numerous findings of fact in support of its *Jones* and *Burnet* analysis (CP 942-47). Pinto has not challenged any of these findings. Therefore, the findings of fact in the trial court's order are verities on appeal. *See Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn. 2d 801, 808, 828 P.2d 549, 553 (1992), citing *Nearing v. Golden State Foods Corp.*, 114 Wn.2d 817, 818, 792 P.2d 500 (1990). As verities on appeal, Pinto cannot show that the trial court abused its discretion in making such findings. *Id*.

C. The Striking Of Pinto's Experts Is Another Basis on Which the Dismissal of All Claims Against Drs. Vaughn and Leone Should Be Affirmed

As explained above, all of Pinto's claims require expert testimony. Accordingly, because all of Pinto's experts were properly stricken in that the trial court determined that "plaintiff's expert disclosures, reports and declarations are excluded from consideration" and that Pinto "may not call any expert witness at trial" (CP 943), the dismissal of Pinto's case should be affirmed. Pinto cannot sustain his case without any experts and all of his potential "experts" were properly stricken/excluded in an order that has not been properly challenged by Pinto in this appeal. The trial court's dismissal of all claims against Drs. Vaughn and Leone should be affirmed for this reason alone.

D. Pinto Has Waived His Assignment of Error Regarding the Trial Court's Denial of the Parties' Stipulated Motion to Continue Trial.

Pinto's Notice of Appeal contains an assignment of error as to the trial court's denial of the parties "Stipulated Motions for Continuances" (CP 928). Appellant's Brief lists this assignment of error in the "Assignment of Error" numbered list section of the brief. However, the brief is devoid of any argument or citations to case law establishing this claimed assignment, as RAP 10.3(a)(6) requires. Accordingly, this assignment of error is waived. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v.* Bosley, 118 Wn. 2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549, 553 (1992); *Smith v. King*, 106 Wash.2d 443, 451–52, 722 P.2d 796 (1986).

E. Pinto Never Requested a CR 56(f) Continuance In Response to the Orthodontists' Motion for Summary Judgment

The last section of Pinto's Appellate Brief regarding the trial court's denial of Pinto's request for a CR 56(f) continuance (AB 43-46) is not directed to Drs. Vaughn and Leone. However, because this section appears after Pinto's discussion as to Drs. Vaughn and Leone, it may appear that this argument relates to Drs. Vaughn and Leone. It does not. Pinto never requested a CR 56(f) continuance in response to Drs. Vaughn and Leone's MSJ. There was no assignment of error in this regard (CP 928), and there are no relevant Clerk's Papers.

F. Dismissal of Pinto's Claims Against Leone and Vaughn, DDS, P.S. Should Be Affirmed

To the extent Pinto assigned error to the trial court's dismissal of Drs. Vaughn and Leone's orthodontic office, "Leone & Vaughn, DDS, P.S., d/b/a Leone & Vaughn Orthodontics," the Court should affirm dismissal. Pinto has not briefed this assignment of error and it is therefore waived.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Court should affirm the dismissal of all claims against Drs. Vaughn and Leone, and their orthodontic office. The record contains ample facts and legal analysis to support that summary judgment dismissal was proper and that the trial court did not abuse its discussion as to any

associated rulings.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 18th day of May, 2016.

BETTS, ATTERSON & MINES, P.S.

Lisa Wong Lackland, WSBA#27373 BETTS, PATTERSON & MINES, P.S.

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